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Homburg





The handle of my study door softly turns. I look up from my typewriter, startled. The two older children are at school, my wife’s out with the baby, the house is empty. I’m working alone on the top floor.


The door opens a few inches. Around the edge of it, with a certain deferential caution, comes a hat. A black homburg.


The year must be 1969, I realise from the internal evidence when I reconstruct the scene in my memory. No one round our way locks their front doors in 1969. But then no one still wears homburg hats. I’m looking at the last homburg in south-east London, perhaps in western Europe.


I feel a familiar touch of exasperation. Of course! Naturally! The black homburg! Just when I’ve got a chance to work undistracted! Why hadn’t he phoned, like anyone else? Why hadn’t he rung the bell, or shouted ‘Anyone at home?’ Why hadn’t he at least taken his hat off?


The hat is followed by a pair of spectacles – a hearing aid – a trim grey moustache. And my father’s familiar smile, like the sun coming up.


My exasperation evaporates in the warmth of it.




*





1969, yes, when I was writing my first play. It must have been. The good year, shortly before the end of his life, the year’s reprieve between his first cancer and the second. He just happens to be passing, driving from somewhere in south-east London to somewhere else, on his way to put his head round the doors of building contractors and architects in Woolwich or Eltham, selling them roofing. He has always been turning up like this in my life, unannounced, on the move, a law unto himself, excused by his deafness from the usual social conventions. Not always in a black homburg – sometimes in a brown trilby. But usually in one or the other.


When he takes the hat off it reveals the last of his trim silvering hair receding above the leathery corrugations of his forehead, and brushed precisely flat. His features are as neat and well-ordered as his three-piece suit and polished toecaps. He has a touch of Fred Astaire’s lightness and quickness about him.


‘Not interrupting the muse, am I?’ he asks, as I make him coffee. ‘Not depriving the world of some great new book?’


‘It’s not a book this time – it’s a play.’


‘Are you? Where are you going?’


‘A play. The thing I’m writing.’


‘Bit crowded at this time of year, Brighton.’


He can probably hear me, actually, even if he hasn’t turned his hearing aid on. It’s over a quarter of a century since he first went deaf, and I’ve long been used both to raising my voice and to his pretending not to understand even so, for comic effect. More smiles when my wife comes in. ‘Would you like some lunch?’ she asks him, but after a lifetime of softly modulating her voice she finds it almost impossible to make him hear even the vowel sounds. He’s rather in rather in awe of her, though, so he doesn’t like to disrupt the flow of the conversation.


‘Not too bad,’ he replies. ‘And the children?’


‘They’re very well. But how about lunch? Something to eat?’


‘No fear!’


‘No?’


‘Of course not. Up Dog Kennel Hill and across Peckham Rye.’




*





It’s forty years since my father died. I’ve often thought about him since, of course. As he was when I was a child, as he was when I grew apart from him in my adolescence, as he was when we became closer again in those last years of his life. I can sometimes still feel some of his expressions on my own face and know, even without a mirror, that I’m looking like him. And yet I’m so unlike him! Slow where he was quick, scruffy where he was dapper, head-in-the-clouds where he was feet-on-the-ground. And inside, behind our mutual expressions, in the way we think and feel, we’re totally different. Aren’t we? In all the years I’ve spent imagining myself into the heads of characters in plays and novels I’ve never really tried to feel what it was like to be that rather striking real character in the homburg hat. Your parents are your parents. They are what they are.


It was my children, wondering about their own origins, who first set me thinking about him in a rather different way. They wanted me to write something about my childhood – anything about the past that I could remember, before it had all vanished from my memory for ever. Rebecca, my eldest daughter, felt that she and her two sisters – all of them now older than I was when that hat came round the door – ‘had risen from an unknown place’. For a long time I resisted. How could I ever contrive to lay my hands on that lost world, which had now slipped so far away even from me?


And then it occurred to me that it was my father who was one of my last links with that elusive past, and who might take us all back to it. Once again I saw his head coming round my door – the homburg, the hearing aid, the smile. Sixty-eight years of good and bad fortune were written in the corrugations of his forehead, the crinkled skin fanning back from the corners of his eyes, and the deep curving crevasses on either side of his mouth. So many things I should have asked him while he was still here to tell me. I might even have tried to talk to him about the thing he never once mentioned, the event that in one single instant broke his life in two – that broke all our lives in two – into Before and After. Did he ever wish he could have said something about it to me?


I went back to my very first conscious memory of him. I suppose I was three years old. He had appeared unexpectedly through a door, just as he did in my recollection of him at the end of his life. And – yes – wearing a homburg hat. He was coming in through the French windows of the dining room, just home from work, still carrying his files and folders. What makes this particular occasion stick in my mind is that I was crying, and that I lied to him about the reason. I’d misbehaved in some way and been scolded by my mother, but I felt so ashamed of my babyishness that I told him it was because I’d banged my head on the edge of the dining table.


Was it really the same man under that first homburg and the second, thirty-three years later? What had happened to him in between was etched not only into the skin of his face but deep into the core of the man himself. But then, if I was three when he appeared through the French windows, he must have been thirty-five. More than half a lifetime was written upon him already.


I go over that first encounter with him again, now I’m trying so hard to remember things, and what catches my attention this time is not my lying, or his sympathetic smile as he was taken in, but an odd marginal detail of the scene: the fact that he was coming in through the French windows. They were at the back of the house. If he’d just arrived home from work he’d got out of the car on the driveway by the front door. Why had he walked all the way round to the back garden before he came indoors?


Maybe he’d forgotten his keys. Or maybe he already had a penchant for appearing through doors unexpectedly. But, as I turned this tiny anomaly over in my mind, it occurred to me that there was perhaps another reason – something quite simple, that would explain a lot about him. If I was right, I should have to begin by tracing his path to the French windows that day in 1936 – all the way back, perhaps, to the unknown place from which he himself had arisen.


So back I’ve gone, as people often do when they get older, scrabbling among the birth and death certificates that marked my family’s progress through the world. I’ve looked up the census returns and the electors’ lists, and walked around the streets where my father grew up. I’ve tried to remember what little he told me, and to reconstruct the world as he saw it, with the problems he was set, and the pleasures and successes he found. I’ve made myself come face to face at last with that event I could never talk to him about, and its consequences for him and all of us.


The quest that I’d so reluctantly begun came to occupy my mind and heart alike. I laughed aloud to myself sometimes at the things that came back to me, and at other times could scarcely see what I was doing for tears. I also discovered many things about him – and a few about myself – that I’d never known, and that took me completely by surprise.


And now, when he puts his head round my study door again and smiles at me, as he does, I see him – and myself, and the world we shared – a little differently.




[image: ]






















PART ONE






















1


Smart Lad





I see in the Oxford Dictionary of Surnames that the name Frayn in all its various spellings derives from the French, fresne, an ash tree. We were dwellers by an ash tree, and the earliest recorded variation is a William de Fraisn in 1156, who had presumably, as some proud families like to boast, ‘come over with the Conqueror’. Our branch of the family, though, arrived only four hundred years or so later, and in less exalted circumstances. We spring not from twelfth-century Norman knights but from a French pirate who was terrorising the Channel in the sixteenth century. He was captured by the English and hanged at Dover. His ship, and the cargo of gold it contained, was impounded, and both ship and gold are being held in Chancery for any Frayn who can prove his descent from the pirate.


I know this because I was told it by my mother, one rainy afternoon when I was about six. The story seized my imagination, particularly the solemnity of the phrase ‘held in Chancery’. I had no clear idea of what Chancery was, but I understood that it was something to do with the law, and was dark and lofty and inaccessible. I had a picture of a gloomy panelled hall, and in it, propped on trestles, a kind of Viking longship, with the piled gold gleaming amidst the thwarts. I knew it was my task in life to reclaim it. But how would I prove that I was the legitimate heir? What tests would I be put to?


What for that matter had my father already done to secure the gold? Nothing, it turned out when I asked him some years later. The reason was simple: because he’d never heard about it. By this time my mother was no longer there to ask, but I suppose she must have made the story up to keep my sister and me entertained on a wet afternoon, just as she sometimes played the violin to us. It had never occurred to me that it didn’t make any sense. Why would the pirate have had a son and heir on board with him as he raged about the Channel? Why would his ship and his illicit hoard be kept for his heirs to claim? Odd, though. The story’s so circumstantial, and so out-of-nowhere. I can’t recall my mother ever inventing any other piece of family history – or any other story at all.


More recently, at any rate, so I’ve discovered from my researches, the Frayns come from the West Country. Satisfyingly unusual as the name is in London, the nineteenth-century census returns for Devon and Cornwall are littered with Frayns, most of the men blacksmiths or locksmiths, most of the women in service. My father’s father, Thomas Frayn, was born in Plymouth, the son of a general warehouseman, and rose into the world of small shopkeeping. He began his career as an assistant in a china shop, and married a greengrocer’s daughter, Louisa Lavinia Allen (whose mother was illiterate – she had to make her mark when she registered Louisa’s birth). Thomas progressed from working in the china shop to owning it. This turned out to be a step too high in the world, though. He apparently drank the profits, the business failed, and at some point in the last decade of the nineteenth century he brought his wife and family to London, where he found work as an assistant once more, in the china department at Whiteleys.


I can’t remember now who first told me about the move from Plymouth. Not my father, who never said anything at all about his parents. I’ve filled out most of the details from the official records, but perhaps I got the story first from my cousin John Frayn Turner, a fellow writer. John, ten years older than me, remembered that our mutual grandmother had a rich Devon accent, and it was certainly he who first told me about our grandfather’s weakness for drink. I was about sixty by then, so perhaps he felt I was old enough to be trusted with some of the family’s darker secrets.


Thomas and Louisa had four children, three girls and a boy, and the six of them moved into a house in Devonshire Road, Holloway – chosen perhaps because the name reminded them of the old days. I recently took a walk round the district. Devonshire Road, now Axminster Road, is a turning off the Seven Sisters Road, part of the early Victorian development just to the east of the Holloway Road, and a cut above the slum streets that have long since been cleared in other parts of the borough. The terraces could pass for Georgian, with small front gardens and trees along the pavement – exactly the kind of street that in other districts developers have gentrified. It’s plainly come up in the world a bit since my father’s day, but the Seven Sisters Road and the Holloway Road, which flow through the history of the Frayn family like the Tigris and the Euphrates through the history of Mesopotamia, remain mostly working class, and I had the impression that gentrification was still rather hanging fire. I got talking to someone who had been brought up just round the corner from the house my grandparents lived in. He told me that it had always been ‘a rough old neighbourhood’, and he catalogued a few of the more interesting local murders.


My grandparents’ house had four rooms, apart from the kitchen, and according to the 1901 census there were two other couples also living there. Presumably each of these other couples occupied one of the rooms. So my grandparents and their four teenage children must have been living in the two remaining rooms. Two adults and four adolescents in two rooms – and all ten residents, presumably, sharing the kitchen. All the Frayn children were fortunately slight, wispy creatures. And they might have been packed in even tighter. In the next census, in 1911, there’s a space for the total number of children born, dead as well as living, and this records two more, born alive but with no names or birth dates.


So this was my first surprise as I looked into my father’s origins; quite how poor the family had been. When he at last joined the household, on 29 January 1901, he was the eleventh human being to be fitted into the four rooms, and cooked for and washed for in the communal kitchen. They named him Thomas, like his father, and Allen, after his mother’s family. Thomas Allen Frayn. Tom to everyone as a boy, then Tommy to his wife’s family in the years to come, and Tom still for some reason to all his colleagues and customers. The Benjamin, with a big brother to look after him and three big sisters to fuss over him, twelve years younger than the youngest of them.


I have only one photograph of him as a baby. He’s wearing a bib, and he looks as if he has just made a great discovery – the only thing that he told me about himself in these early years: if you’re given bread and cheese you can eat the cheese and chuck the bread under the table. No sooner on to his first solid food than he’d discovered the first inklings of the sharpness and cheek that were going to see him through a career of salesmanship and so many of life’s waiting difficulties. Parking his car in central London, for example, fifty years after this – leaving it in front of the Air Ministry and telling the attendant ‘Business with the Minister’, or in front of the great north door of Westminster Abbey – ‘Business with the Dean’.




*





My second surprise, as I looked at the 1901 census, came when I understood the significance of the final column in the return. It was to be filled in, it explained at the top, if


(1) Deaf and dumb


(2) Blind


(3) Lunatic


(4) Imbecile, feeble-minded.


And it was filled in. Every single member of the family except for the two-month-old Thomas was tagged with a (1). The entire family were deaf and dumb.


The first thing this shows is how cautiously you have to treat even the most apparently authoritative historical records. I never knew my paternal grandfather, because he died long before I was born, and I don’t remember my grandmother, because she died when I was still not two, but I’m pretty sure that they weren’t dumb – and absolutely sure that my father’s brother and sisters weren’t, because them I did know. Deaf they certainly were, all of them – Nellie, Mabel, George, and Daisy – seriously deaf; I remember the struggle to make them hear anything I said. I was surprised, though, that they were already deaf as children. My father’s deafness came on in early middle age. And his brother and sisters can’t have been deaf from birth, because their speech wasn’t impaired.


Or perhaps Mabel’s was a bit, now I come to think of it. She certainly spoke in a strangely hushed way, as if she were in church. So did Daisy. Yes, and Nellie, and George.


What they were all suffering from was presumably, as I have discovered from the internet, late-onset hereditary deafness, for which apparently the gene has now been discovered, though I’m not quite sure what’s happened to it in the three generations since then. A puzzle remains, though. If it’s hereditary it’s not surprising that one of the parents was also deaf. But both of them! Was this pure coincidence? Or had they been drawn to each other in the first place because of their deafness?


Four deaf children and two deaf parents. This is surprising enough. But one of the other couples sharing the house with them, a draper and his wife, is listed in the same way. The draper was from Devon, like the Frayns, so maybe he was a relative with the same heredity. But his wife, from Berkshire – also deaf! Maybe they, too, had picked each other because of their deafness… Maybe the two couples had been drawn to share a house because of the similarity of their marital arrangements … Or was it all just one great escalating coincidence?


Difficult to fathom this. Difficult, too, to imagine my grandfather selling china, and the other tenant drapery, to customers who couldn’t make them hear what sort of china and drapery they wanted. More difficult still to imagine what life was like in the house, with two deaf parents, four deaf children, and two other deaf tenants, all either shouting or murmuring inaudibly to each other in the shared kitchen. Mabel must sometimes have made a particularly striking contribution to the proceedings. She was not only deaf but simple (although reputedly sharp at cards), and was said to be often very difficult – given to wild outbursts at certain phases of the moon, when she shouted, among other things, that she wanted a man. Every now and then she had to retire to a mental hospital.


And now here’s the new baby chucking his food under the table and screaming his lungs out, with his nappies being boiled on the copper … In the morning everyone trying to get their breakfast, and hot water for shaving, and their clothes pressed and ready for work. All of them wanting the one lavatory, which at that time was presumably a privy in the back garden …


In the only photographs I have of my paternal grandparents the most noticeable things about them are his dignified but somehow weary and defeated grey walrus moustache, and her shock of resiliently springy hair. My father never mentioned their deafness, any more than he said anything else about them. He never mentioned deafness at all in the various stories he told me about his childhood. Nor did he ever complain about the conditions in which he’d been brought up, or imply that in our one-family detached house in the suburbs my sister and I were being spoiled by luxury. He made life in Devonshire Road sound convivial, in a traditional working-class way. At Christmas, he said, the entire clan would gather. (How many more are there packed into these two rooms now, and queuing for the lavatory?) They would all bring their music and recitations, sleep overnight in armchairs and on the floor, and take a door off its hinges to make an extension to the dining table. Not a word about none of them being able to hear what the others were reciting or singing.


My cousin’s revelation about our mutual grandfather’s drinking came long after my father was dead, so it was impossible to ask him what further effect it had had on the family after the loss of the business in Plymouth. I suppose I have to imagine, in that overcrowded kitchen, not just a struggling mother, four adolescent children – one of them raving when the moon is full – four other lodgers and a squalling baby, but my grandfather coming home from the pub the worse for wear. The nearest pub, I noted on my walk around the district, was only five doors away, which may have been the amenity that recommended the house to him in the first place. When my grandmother reproached him for never worrying how they were going to manage if he spent all his wages on drink he’s supposed to have asked whether it would help at all if he sat down and did worry for thirty minutes.


I look at my grandfather’s picture again, and now I see him brushing the foam off that dejected moustache, and sucking the last of the beer out of it. I take another look at my grandmother Louisa, who presumably had to keep this overladen ark afloat. Unlike him, I see, she’s still managing the ghost of a smile. Just.




*





By 1911, when the next census was taken, the house remained almost as overcrowded as before. Nellie, the eldest daughter, who worked as a needlewoman and made dresses for the wardresses in Holloway Prison (so her daughter Jean told me), had gone off to get married, to an insurance agent, but the other children were all still living at home. George was a compositor, says the census, Daisy a music-roll librarian for a pianola manufacturer, and Mabel a printer’s bookfolder. The deaf draper and his deaf wife are still in residence, but the other family has been replaced by a young nephew, Courtenay, another arrival from Devon, listed as a tailor’s cutter. Whether Courtenay was deaf, like the rest of the family, it’s impossible to know, because in the 1911 census the disabilities column has been discreetly blanked out, but he shares some of Mabel’s other problems. My father – who curiously never mentioned Courtenay’s living at Devonshire Road – often talked about visiting him in a mental hospital, where he sat in silence all day watching the hands of the clock go round. According to Jean, Courtenay and Mabel were at one point sweet on each other. Whether he reacted in the same way as her to the phases of the moon I don’t know, nor what life in the house must have been like if he did.


The second picture I have of my father as a child shows him at about the age of five, wearing the sailor suit in which small boys were traditionally photographed then. He looks, not wispy and self-effacing, like his siblings, but even cockier than he did as a baby. And cocky he was going to remain, for another forty years at any rate.


The only thing he told me about his education is that at the local central school he was given personal tuition in French by a master who perched on the desk in front of him and brought the register down on his head each time he made a mistake. As a teaching technique this was remarkably effective – it knocked every single word of French out of him. I never heard him essay even a humorous ‘je ne sais quoi’. He was also a boy soprano in the local church, and by the time his voice broke he had risen to become head choirboy. As an introduction to religion this served almost as well as the French lessons did to French. He retained a strong lifelong distaste for every aspect of it.


Something stuck, though, something that gave him a lot of pleasure over the years: the music. Often as we drove somewhere together he would lift up his voice, by this time tenor but still sweet and strong, and sing the soprano line from one of the old oratorios. He knew most of the great Baroque standards, but the aria that he sang over and over again was I think from Stainer’s Crucifixion: ‘Fling wide the … fling wide the … fling wide the gates,/ For the Saviour awaits …’ Whether he ever got any further than this, to a bit where the gates were at last open and the Saviour admitted, I can’t now remember.




*





‘Smart Lad Wanted.’ This was the formula with which a lot of job advertisements used to begin. The smartest lad that any employer could ever wish for is now on the labour market: Tom Frayn, leaving school at the age of fourteen, and just starting out in the world to help support his family. I have a number of photographs of him taken over the next few years, and you can see – he’s as smart as a whip. So handsome, so poised. Three-piece suit, hair slicked straight back, flat against his skull. In one of the pictures he has a nonchalant cigarette between his fingers. In another his adolescent face is crowned by an enormous grey homburg. Already.


His first job is as an office boy in the Hearts of Oak life assurance company in the Euston Road. Somehow each morning he emerges from the chaos of that tiny kitchen at the top of Devonshire Road with a clean collar, his suit pressed and his shoes shined, and walks down to the Seven Sisters Road to get the tram. The First World War is in its second year, and Tom Frayn is enjoying the fourth piece of good fortune in his life, though he probably doesn’t appreciate it at the time. The first was the quick wits he was born with, the second was the brother and sisters who have made him such a favourite, the third was the mother who has somehow kept the family going – and the fourth is being only fourteen years old, and too young to be called up before the war ends.


At some point in the next few years he advances from office boy at the Hearts of Oak to wages clerk at McAlpines, the big building contractors. He goes to Newcastle, as he always call it later, with a stressed short ‘a’, the way the people who live there do, and travels round the city every Saturday in his teenage homburg with a bag of cash, paying out the labourers who are installing sewers and culverts. He must still be in London, though, or back there again, when he has the fifth great stroke of fortune in his life. This is after the war’s over, on a winter’s day early in 1919, when he runs into a friend of his called Bert Crouchman. I imagine it must be a Saturday, because that evening there’s a party, to which Bert is going because a girl he’s seen called Vi will be there, and he’s hoping to get himself introduced to her. Would my father like to come with him?


Tom is said to have only two interests in life at this point. One is dancing. He’s a good dancer, deft and easy in the Fred Astaire manner. The other, no doubt exercised in tandem with the first, is girls – and I suspect, from what follows later, that he also has a certain talent in this department. I don’t suppose he takes much persuading. All the same, I can’t help feeling an instant of vertigo when I think about the sheer fortuitousness of this meeting with Bert Crouchman, and the arbitrariness of Tom’s response. A lot is riding on this one brief moment while Tom makes up his mind. My existence, for a start, and my sister’s. The lives of my three children and my sister’s two. Of our eleven grandchildren …


He shrugs. He’ll go to the party.


A close call there. Or so it seems to me now, as I write this, ninety years on, and the implications of that passing exchange finally strike me.
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2


House of Straw





So there she was, the girl Bert Crouchman was after. Vi. Violet Alice Lawson. My mother.


I gaze at the old photographs of her in my album and see something of what my father saw when he walked into that party with Bert. A heart-shaped face and wide, wide eyes. Piled brown hair and plaits down to her waist. In one of the photographs she looks straight out at me as perhaps she did at him that evening. There’s something touchingly wistful about her expression.


Tom looked at her, and she looked at him – and that was it. He was eighteen, and for him those few short years of girls, plural, were suddenly over. She was still only fourteen, and boys, plural, can hardly have begun. Their lives were settled for the next thirty years.


It was her younger sister, my Auntie Phyllis, who told me about how they met. In fact she wrote it down for me, seventy years later, when I asked her what she could remember of my mother. ‘Tommy went straight up to Vi,’ she wrote, ‘and said “I’m Tom – I suppose you’re Vi!” And from then on, nobody else got a look-in.’ Poor Bert, said Phyllis, must have wished he’d never mentioned the party to Tom. What happened to Bert thereafter she didn’t record. He had dropped away from the story like the launch stage of a space rocket.


Fourteen-year-old Vi and eighteen-year-old Tom – or Tommy, as he now became to Vi and all her side of the family. From Phyllis’s account of the way he introduced himself he sounds as if he was at his most self-assured that evening, as much the cocky young man of the world as he looks in his photographs. I expect he gave her one of his irresistible smiles. Soon, I imagine, he was demonstrating his double-jointedness to her – bending his fingers backwards against the table in a sickeningly unnatural reverse curve, and pushing back the thumb on his right hand until it seemed ready to snap off. Then showing her his other special attraction, the thumb on his left hand, that couldn’t be bent at all, because there was no joint in it to be even single; his brother George, the compositor, had showed him round the printing works when he was a boy, and allowed him to put his hand in a press.


I suppose she looked up at him with those wide eyes, and that hopelessly appealing plangency in her heart-shaped face. Fourteen, going on fifteen, confronting eighteen, going on twenty-five. She saw the way he was looking at her – he saw the way she was looking at him – and by the time they had finished looking the story of their lives was half-written. Together with the lives of all eighteen of their descendants so far.


They had quite a lot in common, if you went back a few years, I discovered as I worked through the records. Her father, Albert Lawson, had come from a rather similar background to Tommy’s father – he was the son of a general labourer in Chatham Dockyard. Like Tommy’s father he had been a shop assistant, in a draper’s, and the family, like Tommy’s, had been through some rocky times.


Bert had launched out from his modest beginnings with high hopes and great enterprise. He had become a travelling salesman, and left his fiancée, Eleanor Dormon, behind in England while he went out to the United States to make his fortune. He travelled all over, I think for the Irish Linen Company, and did well enough to send for Nell to come and join him. They married in New York, in June 1903. Bert, twenty-six, just beginning to make his fortune in this unforgiving land, and Nell, already thirty, who had overcome her lifelong fear of anything and everything to cross the Atlantic third-class or worse and join her fate to his in the summer heat of New York. Then off to the train station together, to the howling sirens and crossing-bells in the night as they chased the hard-won dollar, to Buffalo, to Cincinnati, to St Louis and Cleveland. That elusive dollar always just ahead of them, just out of reach. Now Nell’s pregnant, and throwing up, and more nervous than ever, and still they’re moving on, always moving on. Until they reach Chicago, where, on 6 August 1904, my mother is born.


I went to look at the street the first time I was in Chicago, and went again to show my daughter Susanna when she was working in the States. Anthony Avenue, way down on the South Side, a street now split in half by the elevated ramparts of the Skyway. These days the district is black, and the first time I went the friend who took me would let me out of the car only on condition that he drove alongside of me as I walked, ready for me to jump back in at the first sign of trouble. It looked peaceful enough to me. But it didn’t look as if it had ever been the kind of street, even when it had had two sides to it, that suggested Bert had got very far towards making his fortune.


Within a couple of years, in 1906, with Nell pregnant again, they’d given up on the American venture, and Vi’s sister Phyllis was almost born on the boat back. In the 1911 census Bert was exactly where he had started out – an assistant in a draper’s shop. The house they were living in was a solid and convincing one in Dartmouth Park, half a mile west of the Holloway Road, but according to the census it belonged to Nell’s father – described in her birth certificate as a house painter by trade – and they were there as his lodgers, in a single room. Spacious, of course, by the standards of my father’s accommodation. In any case things began to look up. Bert got a series of well-paid jobs, said Phyllis in her note to me, as a buyer with Selfridges, John Lewis, and other West End stores. By 1912, the electoral register records, they were renting no fewer than three rooms off his father-in-law.


Then came the real turning point in Bert’s fortunes, as it did for so many, one way or another – the First World War. He gave up working for other people and went into business on his own account, selling palliasses to the government. He had made it at last, not with fine linen for the comfortably-off, but with straw mattresses for the troops. He had become one of those reviled entrepreneurs who were doing well out of the war.


So well, in fact, that he was able to move his family out of the lodgings and into a detached house, which they had entirely to themselves. No father-in-law, no lodgers. He bought a car, a Ford Model T. He took Vi out of school – at fourteen, just like my father. But not, like him, to find work and help support the family. To go to the London Royal Academy of Music, to study violin and piano. She had a gift. She was to be a violinist. However similar her world and Tommy’s had once been, they were now very different.


This is how things stood that Saturday evening in 1919, when Bert Crouchman and Tom Frayn came calling on Vi at her cousin’s party.




*





After I’d looked at the setting of my father’s childhood in Devonshire Road I walked, as he must have walked so many times in the next few months, to the house where my mother was now living. It’s in Gatcombe Road, Tufnell Park, less than half a mile from my father’s house. But it’s on the other side of the Holloway Road, and sociologically it’s rather more than half a mile. To the north-east of the Holloway Road are the early Victorian terraces of the ‘rough old neighbourhood’ that had never quite made it into middle-class respectability; to the south-west, where Bert and his family had now established themselves, is a land of late Victorian villas that seem as well cared for and genteel still as they ever were.


This is getting close to the part of Holloway where the Grossmith brothers probably located The Laurels, the home of the Pooters in Diary of a Nobody. The Laurels has three storeys, with a flight of steps up to a front door on the piano nobile. Gatcombe Road is rather different – a street not of terraces but of detached two-storey villas, their front doors not proudly elevated but waiting welcomingly at ground level. No. 1, where the Lawsons are living in 1919, has fluted columns and stained glass beyond the privet hedges. What does Tom make of this quiet and tree-lined backwater, and this comfortably desirable residence, as he calls to pay court to Vi over the coming weeks and months? What does he make of his future in-laws? I was going to get to know both of them later, unlike my paternal grandparents, and they’re not much like the Pooters, in spite of their new respectability – or for that matter the usual picture of war profiteers.


Bert, for a start. Like my father he’s a bit of a card. Unlike my father he’s also a bit of an adventurer, who seems able to turn his hand to anything. He cycles – all over the south of England, sucking a pebble to keep his mouth moist, on a drop-handled machine which I later inherit, and which is built to much the same specifications as a cast-iron bedstead. He swims. While they were in Chicago, my grandmother told me, he had swum across Lake Geneva. I assumed for years that she was suffering from some fairly characteristic geographical confusion here, and that the story was another ship of gold. But when I very tentatively inquired about it the first time I was in Chicago my friends drove me there – Geneva Lake, to be precise, a noted beauty spot in Wisconsin, a mile or so across, and notoriously dangerous for swimmers. Bert had set out with a friend who gave up halfway, swum on undeterred, had a rest, and swum back. Later he took my grandmother sailing on the lake, and almost drowned them both when a sudden storm blew up.


He’d taught himself the violin. He whistles – a complex, endless flow of melody, like a songbird in summer. He’s a watchmaker, and when he comes to stay with us later he gets out the old St Ogden’s St Bruno Flake tobacco tin in which he keeps his jeweller’s tools, mostly home-made, then spreads a newspaper over the dining-room table and, whistling, whistling, repairs all the family’s clocks and watches. He’s a tailor, and makes suits for his two daughters. He plays chess, and plays it the way that other men drink, sometimes failing to turn up for work because he’s off on a chess bender, and my grandmother has to scour the chess clubs and cafés of North London for him.


Pa, I call him, when I get to know him later, and I worship him. A lot of other people, too, are evidently charmed by him, as they are by my father, and he has a wonderful ability to find business partners and persuade them to share his enthusiasm for the opportunities he’s dreamed up and the openings in the market he’s identified. What he doesn’t have is my father’s steadiness of purpose. He’s forever going off in different directions. And the associates he chooses (according to my grandmother) have a remarkable propensity to depart sooner or later with all the money. But now, at last, with the palliasses, he has broken his jinx.


His most surprising venture in life, though, and his most improbable conquest, is right there in 1 Gatcombe Road alongside him – his wife, my grandmother. Eleanor; Nell to everyone in the family; Nanny to my sister and me. I used to have a painting of her as a girl, showing her with long red-gold hair and a frail, ethereal version of my mother’s appealing vulnerability. By the time I knew her the gold had turned to grey but the frailty remained, and the ethereality had become an all-consuming nervousness. She was like one of those birds which seem to spend so much time looking round for any possible danger that you can’t think how they ever eat enough to stay alive. Later she lived with us for many years. I can’t recall her ever going to the shops, or even to the letter box on the corner. The back garden, yes, occasionally, when she was absolutely certain that there was no chance of getting wet, or chilled, or struck by lightning. But the front garden? Next to the road? I don’t think so.


She was fearful of gas and electricity. Also of air, fire and water, and probably of earth, too, on the rare occasions that she got within sight of any. She was nervous about the state of the world, and about any change to the arrangements of the nation or the house. She was fearful of committing some social impropriety, and would often keep a hand over her mouth as she spoke to trap any embarrassing revelations that might be emerging. She confessed to me once, with hand over mouth and many little nervous laughs, a terrible truth about her origins. She had been brought up not as an Anglican, but as – and she made this seem such an embarrassing admission that I can scarcely bring myself to repeat it here – as a Unitarian.


From behind that nervously hovering hand on another occasion she confided to me an even worse family scandal. Her great-grandmother had been Jewish. I was too young and ignorant when she let this slip to realise quite how interesting it was. I didn’t know then that Jews see Jewishness as being transmitted matrilineally, so it didn’t occur to me to ask the obvious question: was she talking about her mother’s mother’s mother? If she was, then, in Jewish eyes, she was a Jew herself, and so am I.


I was her first grandchild, and she loved me blindly through thick and thin, in spite of my shamefully haphazard expression of the love I felt for her, and my playing cruelly, as a growing boy with trees to climb and bicycles to ride, upon her endless fears for my life and limb. As frail as a sparrow herself, in a world full of rain and draughts and electricity, she took an equally pessimistic view of her own life expectancy. ‘Oh, Michael,’ she would say mournfully, each time I went to visit her in later years, ‘I don’t think I shall see another winter through. I shan’t be here this time next year.’ I once reported these predictions to my father. ‘She’s been saying that ever since I first met her,’ he replied.


So this is the life’s companion that buccaneering Bert has picked out for himself. Even odder, though, is that he seems to have made the arrangement function. He has prevailed upon her to accompany him on his adventures. To embark on a ship, which might at any moment strike an iceberg or be quarantined for typhus. To enter into a foreign register office and lifelong wedlock. To trail from city to city and state to state across America. Into a sailing boat. Back from America to Tufnell Park. From Tufnell Park to Holloway. Into a villa and a motor car, strange cafés and chess clubs. He has even charmed two beautiful daughters out of her.


No wonder he’s been able to talk the government into buying his palliasses.




*





Another possibility has just occurred to me – that my grandmother’s nervousness was the result of living with Bert. That, until he had dragged her through the heat of an American summer and the cold of an American winter, almost drowned her, impoverished her, enriched her, and forced two pregnancies and two child-births on her, she had been a flame-haired adventuress as bold as himself. It doesn’t seem very likely. But then nor does the first version of the story.


I wonder what Bert and Nell make of Tom Frayn, when he comes courting their daughter. A cocky upstart from the wrong side of the Holloway Road. An office boy, or perhaps by this time a wages clerk, with no prospects in life and a poverty-stricken mother to support, from a family with an unreliable father and a hereditary disability. One look at his slicked-down hair and his sharp suit and even the most tolerant of parents would lock their daughter in her room. She’s only just turning fifteen, after all – she’s got her exams at the Royal Academy to think about. She’s going to be a violinist. Have you ever heard of a violinist stepping out with a wages clerk? She doesn’t know what she’s doing – you can see she’s completely besotted.


Maybe Bert recognises a few similarities between Tom and himself as a young man. Difficult to know, though, whether this would make him even more aware of the wretchedness that the lad is threatening to inflict on his daughter, or give him some hope that one day Tom, too, might find his own palliasses at the end of the rainbow.


Whatever Bert thinks, Nell must be in the most terrible twitter. She must see every possible disaster either coming or already upon them. Pregnancy … elopement … destitution … All that money on violin lessons wasted! All that tea and seed-cake that will have to be consumed with in-laws on the bad side of the Holloway Road! All the profits from the palliasses somehow spirited away by this cocky young chancer! Vi getting pneumonia from hovering about outside the front door to say good night to him! Yes, and now where is she? She should have been home from the Academy by six and it’s nearly ten past! She’s in Gretna Green! She’s on a boat for South America! Oh – is that you, Vi …?


Do they perceive Tom as being in at all the same social class as themselves, now that they live in a detached house in Gatcombe Road? Impossible for them not to be aware of the question. It’s all-pervasive, particularly in relationships that threaten to become institutionalised, even if no one mentions it. Its pervasiveness, though, is matched by its elusiveness. It seems simple enough until you try to apply it to particular families. What class are Tom and his parents exactly? What class are Vi and hers? Whenever I have to explain my origins I say ‘lower middle’. Look at those eleven people in four rooms in Devonshire Road, though, and this seems a bit optimistic; a bit of an underestimate, on the other hand, for a palliasse-merchant in a villa in Pooterland. If it’s a matter of occupation then my father’s sister and brother, the bookfolder and printer, surely put the family into the skilled working class – even if the office boy, the pianola roll librarian and their shop-assistant father are struggling to lift it a few inches above.


In practice, in any case, it’s surely more a matter of style and outlook than income. My father (a lifelong Labour supporter, incidentally, wherever his changing fortunes took him economically) salted his speech with Cockney rhyming slang, and called his business contacts Guv’nor (though never Guv). Perhaps this was putting on a bit of a performance, though, as he did with his deafness. He didn’t drop his aitches or double his negatives. For the most part he spoke more or less received English, and so did all his brothers and sisters.


And yet he had very little middle-class sense of material possession, or of making provision for the future. For most of his life he drew a monthly salary, and paid it into a bank account. He never owned a house, though, probably never any of the cars he drove, or much of anything, really, except a few suits and hats, and later a hearing aid. I don’t think he ever took out either insurance or assurance, and he certainly never made a will. When he died, and my sister and I concocted a tactful fiction that he had informally intended £300 of the modest balance in his account to go to his one surviving sister, I got a letter from her husband saying that it was the biggest surprise of her life to be so generously remembered – and I think the real surprise was that anyone in the family was in the business of leaving anyone anything at all.


Insofar as he thought about the future, which I’m pretty sure was not much, he assumed like Mr Micawber – and, I should think, Albert Lawson, the successful palliasse merchant – that something would turn up. But then, if you look beyond Devonshire Road and Gatcombe Road, to the further reaches of the family, the picture changes again. One of my mother’s cousins was married to a stockbroker, while in my generation and my children’s you find not bookfolders and shop assistants, but solicitors and academics, TV presenters and producers, not to mention three writers, all of us firmly related to the structure of society by deeds and degrees, and tethered to the future with mortages and savings.


So maybe Tom didn’t seem quite so alien to Vi’s family, in spite of his trans-Holloway-Road origins. They must have taken to him, as everyone else did, because soon her mother was confiding to him about her tragically limited life expectancy. And in the front room behind the privet hedge at Gatcombe Road he was mutating from sharp, streetwise Tom into what he would be within the family for the rest of his life – the more domestic Tommy.
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Things were finding their own level, in any case, because within six months of my father’s getting a foothold in the family the Lawsons were on their way down in the world. The heyday of the house of Lawson was over. It had lasted only four years.


What had happened? ‘It’s a very long story,’ said Phyllis in the note that she wrote me seventy years later, ‘but things didn’t “work out”.’ This was in 1919, and one of the problems must surely have been that the war was over. The civilian population was perhaps less eager to sleep on sacks of straw than the military had been. It would have been characteristic of Bert’s hopeful approach to business not to have seen this coming. I imagine that there must also have been the usual problems with his associates, who had probably decamped with the last of the straw.


The anxiety of all this no doubt brought Nell even closer to her deathbed. Bert, however, seems not to have been greatly concerned. He remained, says Phyllis, the eternal optimist, and never ceased to believe that his fortunes were going to change. I imagine him continuing to whistle as he opened the final demands and distraint orders; and from now on the supply of them was going to be constant.


He sold the car. He moved the family out of Gatcombe Road into another substantial house, even closer to the Pooters’ territory, but shared this time with two other families. They were back to the kind of accommodation they had left behind four years earlier.


The saddest thing about his failure was the consequences it had for the two girls. They had to become the family’s breadwinners. As soon as she was fourteen Phyllis left school and trained as a shorthand typist. And at the age of sixteen, after just one year as a future violinist, Vi had to leave the Royal Academy. She had already, my father told me later, played with the Queen’s Hall Light Orchestra – in what circumstances I don’t know – but now, it turned out, she was not going to be a violinist after all. She was going to be a shop assistant, like her father and Tommy’s father before her.


Her father’s downfall, though no one realised it at the time, was not the first disaster in Vi’s life – it was the second; and the effects of the first one were going to be infinitely worse. But this neither she nor anyone else would discover for another twenty-six years.
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I recall my mother taking me as a treat, when I was five or six years old, to go shopping at the big stores in Kensington High Street, and I thought she told me that she had worked in at least two of them, Barkers and Pontings. Maybe this was later, though, because in Phyllis’s little memoir she says that Vi started straight out at Harrods. This was certainly several steps up the ladder from the kind of places her father and future father-in-law had begun in, and I guess it must have been Bert, with his pre-war connections in the West End retail trade, who had got her the job, even if he hadn’t managed to do something similar for himself.


She was in the gowns and costumes showroom, and Phyllis says she did very well there. ‘They often used to take her out of her department to do special modelling for them, preferring her to their “official” models.’ When, in middle age, I began to think about my origins, and about things that had long seemed more or less unthinkable, I realised that I had not one single physical memento of my mother – not so much, at that time, as a blurred snapshot. I asked Phyllis about her, and she told me where I might possibly find a picture. In the 1920s, she said, Vi had modelled Harrods gowns for their advertisements in the society papers. I went out to Colindale, to the newspaper department of what was then the British Museum Library, and searched blindly through the ancient files.


And suddenly, in an illustrated magazine called The Bystander, dated 18 March 1925, there she was, unidentified but unmistakable. She’s sitting hand on hip, in a long silk jacket and a lace scarf. Her heart-shaped face is framed by a cloche hat, and the long plaits have been reduced to a bob. She’s half-turned away from the camera, and her wide-set eyes are cast demurely down. The advertisement occupies a whole page of the magazine, and under the picture, in tasteful italics, it says:




INVITATION


Harrods Exposition of the Fashions for Spring is simply a tribute to the dress-taste and discrimination of the public Harrods serve. Visitors tell us that nowhere else is there to be found a Display so fascinating, so original, so informative. Why not accept Harrods’ invitation to this enchanting spectacle?





I did, belatedly, accept it as best I could. I had the page from the Bystander photographed and framed, and I have only to lift my eyes an inch or two from the screen of the word processor to see it hanging on the wall. And if I look at some of the other photographs hanging around it, there she is again, in various snapshots that no one in the family had ever thought to give me copies of until I began to ask around for them.


And there’s that same heart-shaped face, those same wide-set eyes, in the photographs of my daughter Rebecca. Then yet again, in the next photograph, in her daughter’s face. Not everything is lost.
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So Tommy and Vi were now socially and financially rather well-matched. Whether they had by this time already decided to get married, and if so when, I don’t know. The following year, though, in 1920, any plans they had were disrupted, because Tommy’s father died.


Exactly how much he had been contributing to the household in Devonshire Road in the last years of his life isn’t clear. According to his death certificate he had moved on from the china shop to an ironmonger’s, but he died of cancer of the stomach, which suggests that he hadn’t been working for some time. He had plainly made no provision for his widow, and she was now effectively destitute. Three of the five children, Nellie, George and Daisy, had long since married and moved out, while Mabel, the simple-minded bookfolder, needed quite a lot of support herself. Daisy chipped in with the occasional ten-shilling note, says her son John, but only one of the children was really capable of doing much to help financially, and that was the baby of the family, now nineteen years old: Tommy.


Standing in for his father in this way was the first serious moral challenge of his life, and it sorts oddly with his haphazard approach to some other questions of financial responsibility that he shouldered the burden so completely. He can’t have been earning much yet, and he had, says Phyllis, ‘a pretty tough time’. When I think of how little was required of me at that age – and how unready I should have been to take on the task if it had been – I feel chastened. He and Vi evidently accepted that they couldn’t afford to get married until his circumstances had changed. They had to wait another eleven years.


I don’t know much about this decade of their lives. I have snaps of them at other people’s weddings, and on the holidays they took every year, at least from 1926 onwards, with his brother George, George’s wife Nelly, and George and Nelly’s schoolboy son Maurice. Llandudno, Penzance, Bournemouth, Llandudno again, in George’s open bull-nosed Morris Cowley, a vast haywain of a vehicle. Here they are, stuck in a ford somewhere, with the bonnet of the Morris up, and Tommy, who has presumably been trying to push the car out, leaning against the back of it, with the water halfway up his trousers. Here he is on a beach somewhere, carrying Vi across the puddles left by the receding tide. Here’s Vi looking romantic on a rock, here she is smiling straight out at the camera from a crowd in front of a cockle stall, here lurking lonely and mysterious in a long dark overcoat and fur collar in front of the misty lattice of the Forth Bridge. I gaze and gaze at the soft images, unable to get enough of them.


My father’s style has changed somewhat in these pictures. He’s no longer the smart lad he was when he started work and met Vi. He’s taken to tweed jackets and diagonal check sweaters and a pipe, that now archaic emblem of male gravitas. He has a certain steadiness in the look on his face, even when he’s smiling. In this world of holidays, though, his short back-and-sides is always gloriously hatless, and he still seems light on his feet – Fred Astaire, just about to take the pipe out of his mouth and twinkle away with Vi across the dance floor.


And here they are together. I lift my eyes from the screen as I work and sneak another look at them, hanging on my wall beside the Harrods picture of Vi in working mode. They’re on holiday somewhere, relaxed and smiling, Tommy with pipe and open-necked shirt, Vi in a modest cloche hat of her own. They look so happy.
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On the twelfth of September, 1931, at Edmonton Register Office, after twelve years of waiting, Tommy and Vi finally do become man and wife. The witnesses are Vi’s father and Tommy’s eldest sister Nellie. Tommy is now thirty, and his Rank or Profession is given as Builders’ Commercial Traveller. When he had first made this shift in his career I don’t know, but he has now found the vocation to which he’s going to remain faithful for the rest of his life. Vi, apparently, has no Rank or Profession. One of them evidently told the registrar that she was twenty-six, but after a little recalculation amended this to twenty-seven.


Tommy must feel he’s doing quite well, because he’s still not free of his family obligations, even when his mother and Mabel move out of Devonshire Road in 1933 to perhaps cheaper rooms just off the Tottenham end of the Seven Sisters Road, a couple of miles further out. Things change a bit when his mother dies in 1935, and Nellie, who lives in Stoke Newington, on the other side of the Seven Sisters Road, shoulders responsibility for Mabel and takes her in. Mabel had obviously given up her job as a bookfolder by this time because she goes back down the Seven Sisters Road each day, rain or shine, to visit her former next-door neighbour in Devonshire Road. And each day returns precisely as the clock strikes five.


Whether or not Tommy is still helping out financially, he and Vi have escaped from the Seven Sisters Road and found a flat in the north-western suburbs, over an off-licence in a new parade of shops opposite Mill Hill Station. The station, now Mill Hill Broadway, has these days been incorporated into the massive elevated bastion and ceaseless noise of the M1, as Anthony Avenue in Chicago has been into the Skyway. The shops are looking a bit run-down, and the off-licence has been replaced by a bookmaker’s, but in 1931 the stylish new Tudor half-timbering, with the medieval towers above, must have seemed very up-to-date. Perhaps it caught their eye at once as they came out of the station looking for somewhere to live – which suggests that, even though Tommy was now a commercial traveller, he hadn’t yet acquired a car. In all the time that I knew him, he to my knowledge almost literally never set foot on public transport. I’m not sure that he’d have known how to go about buying a ticket.


So here they are, married at last and with a home of their own. But by this time another set of obligations has been laid upon him: Vi’s family. The decline of the Lawsons has continued throughout the twenties. They have now lost their foothold in Pooterville completely and are reduced to a part-share in a small house out in Muswell Hill. On Tommy and Vi’s wedding certificate the former palliasse magnate is now described, like his new son-in-law, as a commercial traveller. Even this, though, is probably more an aspiration than a reality. Vi and her sister, says Phyllis in her note to me, had ‘managed to keep things ticking over to a certain extent, but when Vi left home to get married I couldn’t do it on my own, and that was when the home definitely broke up.’ Their stay in the Muswell Hill house had lasted only a couple of years; now they have lost even that. Phyllis ‘went into digs,’ she says, ‘and my father had to “fend for himself”. I know things were very rough for him.’ She helped him out from her wages as a typist.


Which leaves Nell. All her nervousness has been justified, all her fears realised. She’s left as destitute as Tommy’s mother was. She’s worse off, in fact – she hasn’t even a roof over her head.


So Tommy and Vi find themselves sharing their new life together, for which they have waited so long, and their new Tudor flat at Mill Hill, with her mother. The arrangement is probably intended as a temporary stopgap. She will remain with them for the next eighteen years.
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This is the second major test of my father’s character. And, once again, he has risen to it, without, so far as I know, ever complaining. It’s not a challenge that I should have met with any great distinction.


The flat is filling up. It must be about this time that they acquire a dog – I think, from what I remember my father saying, a wirehaired terrier. And in September 1933 the dog is joined by a baby boy (the unexpected result, according to my Auntie Elsie, of a night out together, rather than of any conscious intention, which I find rather touching, and perhaps the hidden source of my interest later in life in the random and disordered). There’s rather a lot of me in the family snapshots dating from the next year or two. Or at any rate of a chunky, chubby boy with abundant blond curls, who slowly changes over the next three-quarters of a century, as I believe from my confused recollections and from a certain amount of documentary evidence, into the gaunt, balding old gent I now identify as me. The photographs show this wonderful child being held first by his mother, then by his father, then gazed at adoringly by both of them. By the age of three the boy’s hair is so luxuriant and wavy that he looks like an advertisement for shampoo. It takes very little imagination on my father’s part to see it flopping gracefully over his son’s suntanned brow in years to come as he effortlessly sends the best that the Australian bowlers can come up with away over the Nursery End …


There’s no sign of the dog in the photographs, nor in my conscious recollection. In a jealous fury, apparently, one day while the family’s out, it attacks my cot and tears the bedding to shreds. My parents feel that they must make a choice between dog and son. They choose the son, fortunately, and the only trace of the wirehaired terrier that remains in our lives is deep in my unconscious, the cause, as I suppose, of the otherwise unexplained fear of dogs that I have suffered from ever since.


The departure of the dog must reduce the pressure on accommodation a little. And perhaps, now that the future batsman has come along, the additional presence of the batsman’s grandmother doesn’t seem quite so onerous. The availability of a live-in children’s nurse to help change the England captain’s nappies (particularly one who is as devoted to him as they are themselves, and who is too nervous ever to want to go out) is beginning to show an unforeseen return on Tommy’s tolerance.


Soon, in any case, they’re moving out of the flat into a house– and even further out in the suburbs. Plenty of other young families at the time are doing much the same, of course, which is why London is growing so fast in those two decades between the wars. The slightly odd thing about the move that Tommy and Vi are making, though, is that it’s to the south-western suburbs, on the other side of the Thames. They have both spent their entire lives in North London, and North Londoners regard South London as a foreign country, a vague tangle of unmapped streets where only missionaries and encyclopaedia salesmen venture. Moving south of the river must feel almost as adventurous as moving to the Southern Hemisphere.


How does it come about? Well, Tommy’s already working for a firm just beyond the river in Southwark, and travelling the inner boroughs round about for them. Which means that he’s broken the psychological barrier of the river – and also that he must have a car. I have a hunch that they’re out for a spin in it with the baby, perhaps for a day by the sea on the south coast, perhaps just to the Derby on Epsom Downs, and that they get stuck, like everybody else, in the mile-long traffic-jam that used to build up in Ewell Village on summer weekends in the twenties and thirties before the bypass was built. And that, as they sit there in the blue haze of exhaust fumes, they find themselves gazing into an estate agent’s window with a sign that says the kind of thing that local estate agent’s signs do at the time: 




LIVE IN SURREY, FREE FROM WORRY!


Modern Homes in Old-World Ewell!


Where the fresh breezes blow straight from the Surrey Hills! Chalk upland soil! Detached residences available, erected upon approved principles, and finished to a degree of perfection!


From £975. Deposit £50. Monthly £5 18s. 9d.





However they happen upon it, one day early in 1935 they’re moving in. They’re not, of course, in spite of all the tempting offers in the local agents’ windows, buying the house. They’re renting, just as their parents rented before them. They have signed a lease with Stanley Charles Longhurst, a timber merchant in Epsom, at whose circular saws I later found myself labouring one summer for £3 a week (under-eighteen rate). The rent of the house is seventy-eight pounds (£78) per year; which, as anyone as quick at arithmetic as Tommy would instantly see, is approximately the same as he would be paying in instalments on a mortgage. Far though they have ventured into the wilderness of suburban South London, though, they have not gone completely native.


What more can a man want, if he has a house, a garden, a beautiful wife, and a son who will one day open for England?


A daughter, obviously, to complete the archetypal family.


On Saturday, 6 March 1937, it begins to snow. It goes on snowing hard throughout the night, as Vi goes into labour, and on the Sunday Dr Wilde, the family doctor in Epsom, has to drive through the whirling flurries and the gathering drifts to come and deliver her. The snow is still falling as the baby is born, and my father has a nightmare drive across London to fetch Florrie, the monthly nurse we’re borrowing from her last clients, our rich stockbroker relations in Enfield, where for some reason she seems to have taken up permanent residence.


My parents tactfully allow me to choose my new sister’s name, and even more tactfully steer me to the choice that I suppose they’ve already made: Gillian. Gillian Mary. Jill.


What Dr Wilde always calls her, though, for as long as he attends the family, is the Snow Baby.
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